# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-351

L.T. Case No. 1D00-1335

MARC D. SARNOFF, TOM HYDE, STEVEN REGISTER, CHARLES STAHMAN, HARRY BRADY & MELISSA RICHIE, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND MOTOR VEHICLES, et. al.,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Scott D. Makar (FBN 709697) Alan Wachs (FBN 0980160) Catherine T. King (FBN 0109525) Holland & Knight LLP 50 N. Laura Street, Suite 3900 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-2000 (904) 358-1872 (fax)

# **

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS**

This case involves constitutional challenges to fees assessed and paid under a mandatory motor vehicle emissions inspection program that the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles ("Department") administered in six Florida counties from 1991 to 2000. At issue is the decision of the First District, which affirmed class certification of the Petitioners' facial constitutional claims, but reversed class certification of their as applied constitutional claims. Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Sarnoff, 776 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000) (the "Decision") [A9] The trial court certified both constitutional claims based on this Court's decision in Department of Revenue v. Nemeth, 733 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 1999). The sole issue on appeal is whether the Decision's holding – that as applied constitutional claims may not be asserted unless each class plaintiff has first sought an administrative refund from the Comptroller – conflicts with this Court's "direct file" exception in <u>Nemeth</u>, which recognizes the right to file constitutional claims directly in circuit court without first seeking refunds from the Comptroller.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Neither the Department nor the First District contest that Petitioners met all class action prerequisites (numerosity, commonality, typicality, adequacy of representation) as to each of the constitutional claims asserted below or that the requirements of Rule 1.220(b), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, were met.

#### **Petitioners' Class Action**

In 1997, Petitioners, Marc D. Sarnoff, Tom Hyde, Steven Register, Charles Stahman, Harry Brady and Melissa Richie, brought a class action against the Department claiming that the motor vehicle inspection fees were unconstitutional. [A1] Each of the six Petitioners resides in one of the six counties where the inspection program was implemented (Broward, Dade, Duval, Hillsborough, Palm Beach and Pinellas) and paid the challenged fees. [A1 6-8]

The United States Environmental Protection Agency had previously designated these six counties as ozone non-attainment areas because they had exceeded national ambient air quality standards. [A1 2] In response, the Florida Legislature enacted the Clean Outdoor Air Law, which created the Motor Vehicle Inspection Program (the "Program"). [A1 3] The Program, codified in section 325.214, Florida Statutes, required that motor vehicles registered in the six affected counties pass an annual emissions inspection to renew their registrations. [A1 3]

# The Motor Vehicle Inspection Program

From the Program's inception, the Department set (by administrative rule, Rule 15C-6.003, Florida Administrative Code) the annual motor vehicle inspection fee at

the statutory maximum of \$10.00.

<sup>2</sup> [A1 3] The total actual cost of administering and enforcing the Program (including the per inspection cost owed to inspection contractors) was substantially less than the \$10.00 fee. [A1 4] Petitioners contend that the amount of each overcharge ranged between \$1.10 and \$3.70 per inspection, depending upon the county where the motorist resided, and totaled approximately \$16,000,000.00 *per year* in the aggregate. [A1 4-5] As a result, the Department collected sums far in excess of the actual cost of administering and enforcing the Program each year the Program was in place. [A1 5]

Initially, the Department placed the excess funds into the Motor Vehicle Inspection Trust Fund. [A1 5] In 1995, however, the Legislature eliminated the Motor Vehicle Inspection Trust Fund and all of the overcharges the Department collected went into the statewide Highway Safety Operating Trust Fund (along with fees from other unrelated programs). [A1 6]. This change (i.e., placing the Program fees into a statewide Department operating fund) resulted in disparate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to 1998, the Legislature directed the Department to set the fee at an amount *no greater than* that necessary to: (a) pay the per-inspection cost (i.e., sums owed to contractors who did the inspections); and, (b) defray the Department's actual costs of administering and enforcing the Program. § 325.214(2), Fla. Stat. (1995).

treatment between taxpayers in the six counties where the Program is administered and citizens in all other counties; the former are required to pay the tax into a trust fund that benefits persons statewide, who are not required to pay the tax. [A1 6]

# The Petitioners' Constitutional Challenges

The Petitioners' original complaint in July 1997 alleged that the imposition of

fees in excess of the cost to administer and enforce the Program was unconstitutional

for the following reasons:

- Excess fees beyond the actual costs of administration constituted unlawful taxes in violation of article II, section 3 (separation of powers) and article VII, section 1 of the Florida Constitution ("No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law.");
- The implementation of the statute resulted in an unconstitutional general law taxing only a targeted locale;
- The fees violated equal protection by treating taxpayers arbitrarily by assessing taxes of different amounts based solely on where they lived in Florida without a rational basis; and,
- The fees violated substantive due process because they lacked a rational basis and failed to promote the health, safety or welfare of the persons or locales subjected to the fee.

[A1 13-14] The original complaint – which asserted only constitutional challenges – contained two counts, the first based on the unconstitutionality of the fees imposed and the second based on the creation of a common fund for the refund of unconstitutional taxes paid pursuant to section 325.214(2) and its implementing rule,

Rule 15C-6.003, Fla. Admin. Code.

After Petitioners filed their lawsuit, the Legislature responded in 1998 by amending section 325.214(2) to *mandate* that the Department charge each motorist a uniform rate of \$10 in each county without regard to actual administration costs. In response, Petitioners filed an amended complaint that added a facial constitutional challenge (Count II) to the newly-amended statute. [A2] Count I, which challenged the statute and rule as implemented on various constitutional grounds, remained unchanged. Count II, which was added, set forth the grounds for challenging the amended statute on its face including violations of article II, section 3 and article VII, section 1 of the Florida Constitution, and equal protection and substantive due process violations. Count III, which was Count II in the original complaint, remained unchanged. As in their original complaint, Petitioners again raised only constitutional challenges.

# The Trial Court Proceedings and Order

Petitioners moved for class certification and provided supporting materials including affidavits, admissions and a memorandum of law. [A3; A3B; A3D; A7] The parties entered a stipulation regarding the procedures for class certification, including

an agreement that the class certification hearing would await this Court's resolution of the then-pending cases in <u>Nemeth</u> and <u>Hamerhoff</u>. [A4C] The Department answered the amended complaint twice [A4; A5] and provided a memorandum of law in opposition to class certification. [A6]

After a class certification hearing, the trial court on March 6, 2000 certified each of Petitioners' constitutional challenges as class claims, finding all class action prerequisites were met. The court rejected the Department's argument that each of the millions of class members were required to have first sought an administrative refund from the Comptroller pursuant to section 215.26, Florida Statutes before filing a constitutional challenge. [A8] The trial court based its ruling on the "direct file exception" that this Court recognized in a line of cases holding that plaintiffs who challenge a tax as unconstitutional may file directly in circuit court without first pursuing administrative remedies.

# <sup>3</sup> [A8 3]

In rejecting the Department's position, the trial court relied upon and quoted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>Department of Rev. v. Nemeth</u>, 733 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 1999); <u>Department of Rev. v.</u> <u>Kuhnlein</u>, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994).

Nemeth's central holding that "a Florida taxpayer may file directly in the appropriate court without first filing an administrative claims pursuant to section 215.26 if the sole basis claimed for the refund is that the tax is unconstitutional." [A8 2-3] The trial court held that "[b]ecause the amended complaint challenges the inspection fee as an unconstitutional tax, the <u>Nemeth</u> exception ... applies." [A8 3] Further, the trial court found "no support for the [Department's] argument that the [direct file] exception applies only when the sole issue raised is the facial validity of a tax statute." [A8 3] Thus, the trial court certified the as applied and facial

constitutional claims based on Nemeth. [A8]

# The First District's Decision

The Department appealed the trial court's ruling as to only Count I. The Department did not contest that each of the class certification requirements had been met as to Counts I, II or III. Instead, the Department limited its appeal solely to the applicability of the direct file exception to Count I, which raised an as applied constitutional claim.

On December 29, 2000, the First District – in a 2-1 decision – ruled in favor of the Department's position. [A9] The Decision acknowledged this Court's decision in

<u>Nemeth</u>, which recognized a "direct file exception" whereby taxpayers "may file directly in the appropriate court without filing an administrative claim pursuant to section 215.26 if the sole basis claimed for the refund is that the tax is unconstitutional." [A9 11 n.1] (citing <u>Nemeth</u>) The First District, however, narrowly interpreted <u>Nemeth</u> to only apply to facial constitutional challenges to a statute, not to as applied constitutional challenges. [A9 11-12] The First District, therefore, reversed the trial court's order as to Petitioner's as applied constitutional claim in Count I. [A9 12] The other constitutional claims, which were certified below, were affirmed and are not at issue in this appeal.

The majority concluded that the Petitioners, and each of the millions of members of the putative class, "were required to seek a refund under section 215.26, before filing suit in circuit court." [A9 12] The majority acknowledged that this Court in <u>Nemeth</u> "did not use the term 'facial' in its discussion of the direct-file exception for claims based on the unconstitutionality of a tax[.]" [A9 6] Nonetheless, the majority narrowly restricted <u>Nemeth</u> to only facial challenges such that any as applied constitutional challenges to a tax must first be presented to the Comptroller under section 215.26. One judge dissented primarily on procedural and jurisdictional grounds, and stated that he would affirm the trial court's class certification order on the merits. [A9 12-18] Petitioners moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc, certification and clarification [A10], all of which were denied.

# [A11]

Petitioners filed a timely notice to invoke jurisdiction based on conflicts with former decisions of this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction on June 14, 2001.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The First District's Decision is contrary to this Court's decisions in <u>Department</u> of Revenue v. Nemeth, 733 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 1999) and <u>Department of Revenue v.</u> <u>Kuhnlein</u>, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994). In <u>Nemeth</u>, this Court repeatedly and emphatically held that plaintiffs who challenge a tax as unconstitutional may file directly in circuit court without first pursuing administrative refunds from the Comptroller under section 215.26, Florida Statutes (the "direct file" exception). To do so "would be a futile act" because the Comptroller is without authority to remedy constitutional claims or render relief under the repayment statute, section 215.26. Despite the clear language of Nemeth, the Decision erroneously concludes that this

Court intended that the direct file exception only apply to facial constitutional challenges, not to as applied challenges. By severely limiting <u>Nemeth</u>, the First District reversed the trial court's class certification order as to the as applied constitutional claim in Count I and required each Petitioner to pursue a futile refund claim from the Comptroller. The anomalous result is that – despite all class certification requirements being met as to each of Petitioners' constitutional claims – Petitioners may pursue their facial claims but must pursue futile administrative

relief as to their as applied claims. As this Court stated in <u>Nemeth</u>, it is futile to pursue administrative relief because the Comptroller is not empowered by law to make refunds "of taxes that might violate the constitution." For this reason, the Decision directly conflicts with the central holding of <u>Nemeth</u> and should be

# reversed.

Moreover, the Decision exacerbates this conflict by relying on this Court's decision in <u>Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Trustees</u>, 427 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1982), whose administrative exhaustion principles have nothing to do with constitutional tax challenges. In doing so, the Decision creates direct conflict with <u>Department of Revenue v. Amrep Corp.</u>, 358 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1978), which

expressly held that the administrative procedures act does not apply to tax assessment challenges and that plaintiffs need not first pursue administrative

remedies before invoking the exclusive jurisdiction of the circuit court.

As this Court recognized in <u>Amrep</u>, the circuit courts have exclusive jurisdiction over tax matters thereby requiring that Petitioners pursue relief in the judicial system, not via administrative remedies. Both article V, section 20(c)(3), Florida Constitution, and section 26.012(2), Florida Statutes, provide that circuit courts have "exclusive original jurisdiction" in "all cases involving legality of any tax assessment or toll" including the denial of refunds. These jurisdictional provisions make abundantly clear that circuit courts – not administrative agencies or other governmental bodies – have the sole authority to address and adjudicate the legality of tax matters. The First District's Decision does not even mention or discuss these jurisdictional limitations or the <u>Amrep</u> decision, thereby overlooking

a fundamental basis for upholding the trial court's order. Finally, public policy and principles of judicial administration support application of the direct file exception of <u>Nemeth</u> to as applied constitutional challenges. The Decision undermines the ability of plaintiffs to assert, as well as trial courts to administer, class claims based on constitutional violations. Claimants subject to small overcharges may not know of or even seek administrative remedies because the cost of doing so outweighs the potential refund resulting in a substantial

windfall to the agency imposing the unconstitutional tax. In addition, requiring claimants to exhaust administrative remedies to assert as applied constitutional claims – where facial constitutional claims are already pending and certified – is nonsensical. The Decision creates two different sets of rules and remedies by permitting facial constitutional claims to be adjudicated in circuit court directly, yet mandating a futile course of administrative relief for as applied constitutional claims. The Decision also effectively immunizes executive

agencies from constitutional tax challenges: claimants who challenge unconstitutional *legislative* enactments must do so directly in circuit courts, while those who challenge similar *executive* enactments must comply with futile and burdensome administrative refund procedures before seeking judicial relief. Neither public policy nor this Court's decision in <u>Nemeth</u> support such an illogical

# result.

For each of these reasons, the First District's Decision is contrary to this Court's precedents and should be reversed with instructions that Petitioners' as applied constitutional claims in Count I be reinstated as a proper class claim below.

# ARGUMENT

# THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN KUHNLEIN AND NEMETH, WHICH PERMIT THE DIRECT FILING OF CONSTITUTIONAL TAX CHALLENGES IN CIRCUIT COURT WITHOUT FIRST SEEKING REFUNDS FROM THE COMPTROLLER.

The Decision directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>Kuhnlein</u> and <u>Nemeth</u>, which held that claims based on the constitutionality of a tax may be filed directly in the circuit court without first pursuing a refund from the Comptroller. The primary reason for this "direct-file exception" is the futility of seeking redress from the Comptroller, who is without authority to remedy constitutional claims in tax matters. The Comptroller has only limited authority under the refund statute, section 215.26, Florida Statute, which does not include the authority to provide refunds for constitutional claims or unconstitutional taxes. For this reason, this Court in <u>Nemeth</u> specifically held that seeking refunds from the Comptroller for an unconstitutional tax is "futile." 733 So. 2d at 974.

In <u>Nemeth</u>, the certified question was whether plaintiffs challenging the constitutionality of a motor vehicle impact fee were required to seek relief from the Comptroller before filing suit. This Court squarely rejected the Department's position that a plaintiff must first seek administrative relief from the Comptroller. It expressly repeated its clear holding numerous times by stating:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The standard of appellate review is de novo on the legal issue of whether this Court's decision in <u>Nemeth</u> applies to both facial and as applied constitutional tax challenges.

# "we expressly hold *that a taxpayer's claim based solely upon the tax being unconstitutional may be filed in the appropriate court rather than with the Comptroller.*" <u>Id</u>. at 971 (emphasis added)

- "Our decision [in <u>Kuhnlein</u>] established that in cases where the plaintiff is challenging the constitutionality of an involuntarily paid tax and seeking a refund for the same *the taxpayer need not comply with the 'administrative' requirements of section 215.26*." Id. (emphasis added)
- "In order to avoid the recurrence of this issue in similar situations in the future, we expressly hold that a Florida taxpayer may file directly in the appropriate court without filing an administrative claim pursuant to section 215.26 if the sole basis claimed for the refund is that the tax is unconstitutional." Id. at 973-74 (emphasis added)
- "Therefore, *we now explicitly hold* that *a plaintiff challenging the constitutionality of a tax statute* and seeking a refund, while *not required to file with the Comptroller*, must still file suit" within the applicable three year statute of limitations." <u>Id</u>. at 974 (emphasis added)

As the highlighted language makes evident, this Court clearly, emphatically, and repeatedly held that challenges to the constitutionality of a tax may be filed directly in court without pursuing administrative relief under section 215.26, which would be futile because the Comptroller lacks authority to resolve or remedy constitutional claims.

The central point in <u>Nemeth</u> is the futility of pursuing administrative relief that simply does not exist. This Court noted "that the Comptroller cannot declare a tax unconstitutional, and thus, when the claim is solely that the refund is required because the tax is unconstitutional, *to file the claim with the Comptroller would be a futile act*." <u>Id.</u> at 974 (emphasis added). This Court noted that the Comptroller's legislative authority, section 215.26, <sup>5</sup> does not include the ability to refund unconstitutional taxes or provide a remedy

under the circumstances.

We recognize that our holding appears to conflict with section 215.26(4), which provides that the statute is "the exclusive procedure and remedy for refund claims between individual funds and accounts in the State Treasury." However, we find no inconsistency because *the statute is only the exclusive remedy for tax refunds which the Comptroller is actually empowered to make*, such as refunds for overpayment, section 215.26(1)(a); when no tax is due, section 215.26(1)(b); or for payments made in error, section 215.26(1)(c); *but not for taxes that might violate the constitution*.

Id. at 974 (emphasis added). As the highlighted language indicates, aggrieved

persons may not seek refunds from the Comptroller for taxes that may be in

violation of constitutional protections. Instead, these persons - such as the

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