IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARC D. SARNOFF, TOME HYDE, STEVEN REGISTER, CHARLES STAHMAN, HARRY BRADY and MELISSA RICHIE, both individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

vs. Case No. SC01-351

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND MOTOR VEHICLES,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF FLORIDA

ERIC J. TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 337609

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 850/414-3300 850/488-5865 (FAX)

Counsel for the Respondent Department of Highway Safety Motor Vehicles

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because Count I does not involve the facial challenge to a fee or tax **statute**, the decision of the First District is in no way express and direct conflict with any decision of this Court or any other District Court, especially *Department of Revenue v. Nemeth*, 733, So. 2d 970 (Fla. 1999), *Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein*, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994) or *Department of Revenue v. Amrep Corporation*, 358 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1978).

To the contrary, the First District's decision in this case is a correct interpretation of *Nemeth*. This Court's decision in *Nemeth* was based upon the fact that the Nemeths as Mr. Kuhnlein did before, presented a "facial" challenge to the very validity of the taxing statute itself. Because the Comptroller cannot declare a statute unconstitutional, it would have been futile for the Nemeths and Mr. Kuhnlein to present their refund claim to the Comptroller. Those cases addressed a facial challenge to a statute, not a rule or an agency interpretation of a statute. The First District clearly saw the difference between the two types of challenges and understood the import of footnote 6 in *Nemeth*.

It is critical to understand what this case, concerning Count I of the Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, is **not** about. Count I does not now, nor ever has been a challenge to a **statute**, either in the form of imposing a tax or a fee. Rather, this case is a **rule challenge** to the Department's setting of the amount of the fee within the range provided the Department by the Legislature in the statute. The

Petitioners' real complaint is that, allegedly, through the rule making process, the Department invalidly promulgated and applied Rule 15C-6.003, Fla. Admin. Code, beyond its delegated legislative authority and set a fee more than the cost of an inspection. What Count I has been and remains is a challenge to the Department's setting of a fee at a level higher than what the Petitioners believe **should have been set**. The Petitioners continued use of the term "tax" when applied to the administrative fee is misleading.

Petitioners continue to mislabel Count I as a challenge to a "statute" and not a rule. Petitioners continue to confuse the law between a challenge of a rule and the challenge of a statute. Since Count I is really a rule challenge, the decision of the First District is not in conflict with *Nemeth*, *Key Haven Associated Enterprises*, *Inc. v. Board of Trustees*, 427 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1982), or *Amrep Corp*.

Petitioners' reading of *Nemeth* is incorrect. Petitioner's interpretation of *Nemeth* results in an overruling by this Court of *Key Haven* without this Court ever having addressed that issue. *In Key Haven*, this Court stated a constitutional challenge to a rule had to be presented to the administrative agency because the agency could offer relief.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS CASE IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH NEMETH OR KUHNLEIN

The Petitioners first argue that the decision of the First District conflicts with two recent decisions of this Court dealing with constitutional challenges to state taxes.³ Those cases are *Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein*, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994) and *Department of Revenue v. Nemeth*, 733 So. 2d 979 (Fla. 1999). The Petitioners have confused the facts presented in those two cases with the facts present here and upon which the First District made its decision. The very nature of the legal challenges in those cases are different from the underlying nature of the legal challenge presented by the Petitioners.

In both *Kuhnlein* and *Nemeth*, this Court was presented with a "facial" constitutional challenge to a "statute" enacted by the Legislature that imposed a fee or tax upon certain persons. Thus, it was the Legislature's very action that this Court had to adjudicate. As stated in more detail below, the reason this Court allowed an exception from the requirements of the general refund statute, Sec. 215.26, Fla. Stat., with its administrative exhaustion requirements, was that it was "futile" to have person pursue administrative remedies when the administrative process, by its very nature, was without the power to declare the challenges "statute" invalid and provide the relief the party sought. That is not the case here.

A. THE REASONING BEHIND *NEMETH*

The decision of the First District is not in conflict with this Court's decision of *Nemeth*. The Petitioners' entire argument is based upon the incorrect assertion

³/ The District Court's opinion that Petitioner had no standing to seek a tax refund was strictly a question of law to which a *de novo* standard of review applies. *See Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000); *Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.*, 721 So. 2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

that this case concerns a challenge to a tax "statute." However, that is not the case here. The Petitioners' complaint here is that the Department really set the "fee" for the auto emissions inspection beyond that necessary to pay for and sustain the emissions testing program.

Consequently, this case involves an administrative rule and agency action and nothing more. The validity of a tax "statute" is not, nor ever has been, at issue in Count I of the Amended Complaint.⁴/ The only question is the appropriateness of the fee set in Rule 15C-6.003, Fla. Admin. Code, in light of the language contained in the delegating statute, Sec. 325.214(2), Fla. Stat.

The Petitioners claim that the decision of the First District limits the direct-file exception this Court clarified in *Nemeth*. That is not so. A review of *Nemeth* and the state of the law to challenge a statute clearly reveal that *Nemeth* is limited to a facial statutory challenge and is especially not to be applied, as Petitioners desire, to a case where an administrative rule is at issue.

At the time of *Nemeth*, it was well recognized that executive officers could not declare a statute to be invalid. *See Key Haven*, 427 So. 2d, at 157. Because of this, certain language was used by this Court in *Nemeth* to describe the futility of going to the Comptroller, or any administrative officer, in a facial challenge to a statute. In both *Kuhnlein* and *Nemeth*, this Court dealt with two "facial" challenges to tax statutes⁵/, statutes that left no opportunity for a taxpayer to challenge the tax before payment. It was in this context that the two decisions were written.

^{4/} Neither is the question, which the Petitioners want desperately to propose, of the validity of a tax statute in an "as applied" situation.

⁵/ Under these circumstances, it is no wonder this Court did not specifically use the word "facial." The Court did not have to since the two cases dealt only with the facial validity of a statute.

This Court started its *Nemeth* decision with a summation of its opinion:

We answer the certified question in the negative except we expressly hold that a taxpayer's claim based **solely** upon the **tax being unconstitutional** may be [directly] filed in the appropriate court rather than with the Comptroller. (e.s.)

Nemeth, 733 So. 2d, at 971. After a brief discussion of the facts, this Court began its legal analysis with the *Kuhnlein* decision, stating that:

Despite the failure of the class members to apply for a refund from the Comptroller in accordance with the statute, we concluded [in *Kuhnlein*] that they could proceed with the class action challenge of the tax and sue for a refund.

Nemeth, 733, So. 2d, at 973. This Court continued:

Our [Kuhnlein] decision established that in cases where the plaintiff is challenging the constitutionality of an involuntarily paid tax and seeking a refund for the same the taxpayer need not comply with the "administrative" requirements in section 215.26.

This language was followed by the additional language:

we expressly hold that a Florida taxpayer may file directly in the appropriate court without filing an administrative claim pursuant to section 215.26 if the **sole basis claimed** for the refund is that the **tax is unconstitutional**. (e.s.)

Nemeth, 733 So. 2d, at 973-974. The reason was clear, with the long standing rule of law that executive offices cannot declare statutes unconstitutional, this Court stated:

[w]e recognize that the Comptroller cannot declare a tax unconstitutional, and thus, when the claim is solely that the refund is required because the tax is unconstitutional, to file the claim with the Comptroller would be a futile act.

Nemeth, 733 So. 2d, at 974.

If there were any question remaining after that statement, recognizing only facial challenges were included in the exception, that confusion was dispelled by these two additional sentences. First, this Court set out footnote 6, which made clear that:

If the refund is claimed on any other basis, there must be compliance with section 215.26, and this decision in no way alters that requirement.

Nemeth, 733 So. 2d, at 974, n.6. Second, this Court summed up its opinion stating:

. . ., we now explicitly hold that a plaintiff challenging the **constitutionality of a tax statute** and seeking a refund, . . . (e.s.)

Id. In sum, *Nemeth* stated an exception to Sec. 215.26, Fla. Stat., where a **statute** was being facially challenged, a task the Comptroller is barred from deciding.

That was not the situation before the First District or now before this Court. In this case, the Petitioners' objections have been, and continue to be, to an administrative rule. In Sec. 325.214(2), Fla. Stat, the Legislature delegated to the Department the authority to set the fee for the repayment of an auto emissions test up to \$10.00. In Rule 15C-6.003, Fla. Admin. Code, the Respondent set the fee at \$10.00. However, after the fee was set, the contracts for the costs of the inspections turned out to be less than the \$10.00 set by the Rule. Thus, in light of the language contained in the delegating statute, Sec. 325.214(2), Fla. Stat., the Petitioners seek to test the appropriateness of the fee set in Rule 15C-6.003, Fla. Admin. Code. Sec. 325.214(2), Fla. Stat., (1989) and (1995), themselves are not under attack by the Petitioners. The First District saw this and articulated the distinction between a facial challenge to a "statute" and the challenge to an agency's implementation of a statute through a rule.

B. THE LANGUAGE USED BY THIS COURT IN *NEMETH* AND *KUHNLEIN* REFLECTS A DESIRE TO LIMIT THE EXCEPTION TO "FACIAL CHALLENGES

By the use of specific words in the *Nemeth* decision, it is clear that this Court did not intend to create a general exception to Florida's refund statute. The Department asserts that the First District's language stating that *Nemeth* is limited to "facial" challenges is based directly on the language used by this Court in *Nemeth* and many other earlier decisions. While this Court did not use the words "facial" or "as applied" in *Nemeth*, that distinction was not crucial there because *Nemeth*, like *Kuhnlein*, clearly involved only facial challenges to legislatively created statutes setting a tax.

More important to this case, what the Petitioners have missed from this Court's language in *Nemeth* is the basic constitutional proposition that there is a distinction between "facial" and "as applied" challenges and the distinction can determine how a challenge is heard. *See Watson v. Buck*, 313 U.S. 387, 61 S.Ct. 962 (1941); *Agency for Health Care Admin. v. Associated Industries of Florida, Inc*, 678 So. 2d 1239, 1243 (Fla. 1996); *Key Haven*; *State v. Hill*, 372 So. 2d 84, 85 (Fla. 1979); and, *Palethorpe v. Thomson*, 171 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1965).

When this Court used the phrase "it would be futile," in *Nemeth* or in other cases like *Key Haven*, this Court meant that language to apply to a "facial" challenge. The use of that phrase is also found in district court decisions. *See Florida Public Employees Council 79, AFSCME v. Department of Children and Families*, 745 So. 2d 487, 491 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) [Discussing *Key Haven*].

When there is an "as applied" challenge or a rule challenge, the Comptroller, or any executive agency, **can** act and change the conduct, the rule or the agency application of the law to have it conform to constitutional conduct. When the

Supreme Court described the "direct-file" language in *Nemeth*, the Court was limiting the use of the direct-file method to facial challenges to legislative statutes.

What makes the use of the wording in *Nemeth* and the emphasis on the word "futile" important is this Court's desire to have a valid, useful "process" available and open to a taxpayer so that taxpayer may both seek a refund but do it in a timely, useful fashion. What was not present in either *Nemeth* or *Kuhnlein* was an administrative process through which the taxpayers could obtain the relief they sought, i.e., the Comptroller did not have the power to declare a statute invalid and order a refund under those circumstances.⁶/

However, by using the language that "it would be futile" to take the case to the Comptroller because the Comptroller could not declare the law invalid, this Court did not intend to have the courts usurp the administrative process or procedure where the administrative process does have the power under law to provide the relief the taxpayer seeks. Under proper administrative process and procedure, agencies to possess the power to alter their conduct, their interpretation of legislative statutes, and the rules the agencies themselves have written.

To follow the Petitioners' argument that they could proceed directly to a circuit court when a rule is at issue would require this Court to withdraw from this Court's holding in *Key Haven* and the long established law of administrative

⁶/ As this Court has emphasized for a long time, it is the adequacy and meaningfulness of the administrative process and procedures that are the keystones of the "futility" question in the exhaustion of administrative remedies issue before a court. As this Court stated in *Gulf Pines Memorial Park, Inc. v. Oaklawn Memorial Park, Inc.*, 361 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1978):

it is pointless to require applicants to endure the time and expense of full administrative proceedings to demonstrate "need" before obtaining a judicial determination as to the validity of that statutory prerequisite.

exhaustion. This Court's *Nemeth* language did not alter or recede from *Key Haven*'s holding. The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies in cases where the administrative process and procedure still precludes judicial intervention where administrative procedures can afford the relief the litigant seeks (e.s.). *Key Haven*, 427 So. 2d, at 157. *See also Florida Marine Fisheries Com'n (Div. of Law Enforcement) v. Pringle*, 736 So. 2d 17, 20, (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

There is no question that a true "facial" challenge to a statute cannot be heard through the administrative process. *Key Haven, supra*. This Court there went on to state, however:

When the facial unconstitutionality of an **agency rule is the focus of an aggrieved party's constitutional claim**, the administrative proceedings must be exhausted and the claim presented to the district court. A circuit court should not, as a matter of policy, entertain an action alleging the facial unconstitutionality of an agency rule because an adequate remedy remains available in the administrative process. (e.s.)

Id., 427 So.2d, at 157-58.

The Department asserts that the question of "facial" versus "as applied" in this case is no different from one discussed in *Florida Public Employees Council* 79, *AFSCME*. There, the First District stated:

[A]s a matter of judicial policy, 'the circuit court should refrain from entertaining declaratory suits except in the most extraordinary cases, where the party seeking to bypass usual administrative channels can demonstrate that no adequate remedy remains available under Chapter 120.'

Id., 745 So. 2d, at 491. That court continued:

While "[t]he facial constitutionality of a statute cannot be decided in an administrative proceeding," a party must exhaust available administrative remedies with respect to an as-applied constitutional challenge.

Id., citing Chrysler v. Florida Department of Highway Safety, 720 So.2d 563, 567-568 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

Thus, historically, the very use of the words found in *Nemeth* have been used by this Court and others to reflect the "futility" of requiring one to seek relief from one who has no power to grant the sought after relief. The law has not and will not allow such frustration.

C. SEEKING RELIEF THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS FIRST WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN "FUTILE"

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